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Due to the frequency of paintings being stolen or forged, ownership and authenticity of
artworks can often be called into question. This case study focuses on investigating the
ownership of one painting, the Blind Man’s Buff, painted by Jean-Honoré Fragonard. Given the
nature of this inquiry, multiple institutions and databases were used to provide primary
documentation. The Blind Man’s Buff was located in Europe during World War II and was in the
hands of a prominent banking family, who were known to have their art collections stolen. I
believe that the Blind Man’s Buff may be one of these.

The artist, Jean-Honore Fragonard, was considered one of the most important painters of the
eighteenth century. He studied as an apprentice under the master painter Francois Boucher. This
is where he began painting decorative subjects and pastoral landscapes, as this is what Boucher
was known for.! With encouragement from Boucher, Fragonard competed for the Prix de Rome
in 1752, and though he had not received any training from the academy yet, he won.? Before
leaving for Rome, Fragonard spent several years studying at the Ecole des éléves protégés in
Paris, where he studied history painting and learned how to engrave.? After the Prix de Rome,
Fragonard became known for his landscapes. He became so popular that his landscape works
were attempted to be copied.* Fragonard then entered the academy as an associate after a
unanimous vote in 1765. This is when Fragonard dove further into the erotic and decorative
subject matter of Rococo and his portraits. It was during this time that he painted his most

famous painting, The Swing.’

! Philip Conisbee, French Paintings of the Fifieenth through the Eighteenth Century, edited by
Richard Rand and Joseph Baillio (Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press, 2010), 149-150

? George Wildenstein, The Paintings of Fragonard (Cambridge: Hunt, Barnard & Co, Ltd, 1960), 5.
3 George Wildenstein, The Paintings of Fragonard (Cambridge: Hunt, Barnard & Co, Ltd, 1960), 6.
* George Wildenstein, The Paintings of Fragonard (Cambridge: Hunt, Barnard & Co, Ltd, 1960), 10.
> George Wildenstein, The Paintings of Fragonard (Cambridge: Hunt, Barnard & Co, Ltd, 1960), 12.
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The Rococo art period was characterized by its playful and flirtatious depictions. Images
were primarily focused on the fashion and taste of the French aristocrats.® Additionally, the
incorporation of children’s games into art was common during the Rococo period due to their
importance in French culture. These children’s games and leisure activities provided an
environment where the rules of decorum in society were more relaxed. Moreover, it was a way
that adults, especially courting couples, were able to temporarily escape their responsibilities and
feel the excitement and fun of childhood.” Rococo artwork began to utilize these well-known
children’s games and incorporate patterns of courtship and eroticism®, which would satisfy the
desire for the romantic pastoral themes that the aristocratic French possessed.’

The game called the “Blind Man’s Buff” was common for young adults to play as an
imitation of the courtship game. The children’s game version was played by a group of people,
and one person was blindfolded. They would be “it”. The other members of the game would try
and “buffet”, or hit, the blindfolded. If the player who was blindfolded manages to catch
someone who hit them, and successfully guess their identity, that player takes the blindfold.°
For courtship purposes, the game would be played by a couple, where one, typically a young

male suitor, tickles the other who is blindfolded, often on the cheek. Additionally, depictions of

¢ Jennifer D. Milam, Historical dictionary of Rococo Art (Maryland: Scarecrow Press, Inc., 2011), 1.

7 Cherise Brashear, “The Representation of Games in 18th-Century Rococo Painting: Differences in the
Discourse Between Children and Adults” (Thesis, The University of Arizona, 2015), 9.

¥ Cherise Brashear, “The Representation of Games in 18th-Century Rococo Painting: Differences in the
Discourse Between Children and Adults” (Thesis, The University of Arizona, 2015), 14.

? “The Blind Man’s Buff'by Jean-Honoré Fragonard,” The Toledo Museum of Art, Accessed March 19,
2023. http://emuseum.toledomuseum.org/objects/55186

10 Therese Southgate, “The Cover”, Journal of the American Medical Assoication (JAMA)

Network 277, no. 6 (1997), 442.
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this game in artwork often will include a putto who is there to distract the young woman from
her suitor.!!

Fragonard’s painting, Blind Man’s Buff at the Toledo Museum of Art (Figure 1),
encompasses all of these requirements, as it was painted with such a flirtatious tone. The painting
is set on a terrace, where the space is small, with all the attention brought to the actions on the
slim platform. The location gives a feeling as if it was a hidden or secret place that could be
taken advantage of for its privacy. The woman in the foreground is very elegantly dressed. Her
hat, bowtie, big and pufty dress, and even the shoes point to the status of this woman, but she is
also blindfolded. Her male suitor is standing slightly behind her and holding a stand of straw
which grazes her cheek touching her face. The young woman reacts with blushing cheeks and a
smile. Two putti have also been included on the left, one of which is tickling the woman’s hand
with a small fishing pole.

Fragonard included a subtle erotic tone in the painting. The young woman is spilling out of
her clothing, to the point that her right breast is beginning to be exposed, yet she still reaches out
to find her suitor. Additionally, her eyes can be seen glancing out from beneath her blindfold,
showing that she already knows the outcome of her erotic play.!? This erotic tone is furthered by
the suggestion of the young woman will be losing her innocence, which is reinforced by
Fragonard’s use of symbolism. The enclosed garden had become a symbol of a woman’s
virginity in the Renaissance era. However, Fragonard painted this garden with a broken wall, and

the garden gate is even broken off.!3

' Cherise Brashear, “The Representation of Games in 18th-Century Rococo Painting: Differences in the
Discourse Between Children and Adults” (Thesis, The University of Arizona, 2015), 14.

'2 Cherise Brashear, “The Representation of Games in 18th-Century Rococo Painting: Differences in the
Discourse Between Children and Adults” (Thesis, The University of Arizona, 2015), 15.

13 Therese Southgate, “The Cover”, Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA)

Network 277, no. 6 (1997), 442.
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The provenance of any piece of artwork is the most important thing in order to
authenticate and prove ownership of an item. A provenance is the history of ownership of the
artwork.'* A provenance should include identifiable information concerning ownership or
transfer of the artwork, like a list of owners, auctions, and art collectors.!® Since the eighteenth
century, the provenance of artwork has been important to bring credibility to the dealer or
collector and to determine the value of art.'® It was during this time that the merit of a work had
transitioned from being solely based on a critic’s opinion or emotion, and more on the
authenticity of the artwork. A provenance will indicate whether a piece has been in a
distinguished collection or exhibition, which would point to authenticity and aesthetic quality.
With this, the provenance became imperative to a work of art and could increase its value.!”

During the Nazi era, the provenance became increasingly important in order to ascertain
the circumstances of artwork transfers.'® As early as 1935, Adolf Hitler began collecting art for a
future museum in his hometown, Linz.!” He began using military power to achieve territory gain
and his desired art. After the takeover of Austria, the German government introduced the
“division laws”, which restricted Jews from owning any form of property. This allowed the
private Jewish art collections began to get confiscated for “safeguarding”. The first Jewish art

collection that was taken was the private collection of Alphonse and Louis Rothschild in

'* Gail Feigenbaum and Inge Jackson Reist, eds. “Introduction.” Essay. In Provenance: An Alternate
History of Art. (California, Getty Research Institute, 2013), 1.

15 Gail Feigenbaum and Inge Jackson Reist, eds. “Introduction.” Essay. In Provenance: An Alternate
History of Art. (California, Getty Research Institute, 2013), 1.

16 Johannes Gramlich, “Reflections on Provenance Research: Values — Politics — Art Markets”. Journal
for Art Market Studies 1, no. 2 (2017): 2.

17 Johannes Gramlich, “Reflections on Provenance Research: Values — Politics — Art Markets”. Journal
for Art Market Studies 1, no. 2 (2017): 3.

18 Johannes Gramlich, “Reflections on Provenance Research: Values — Politics — Art Markets”. Journal
for Art Market Studies 1, no. 2 (2017): 4.

' Kenneth D. Alford, Hermann Géring and the Nazi Art Collection: The Looting of Europe's Art
Treasures and Their Dispersal after World War I1. (Jefferson: McFarland & Company, Incorporated
Publishers, 2012), 39.
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Vienna.?’ Next came the museums. On top of wanting to find the best pieces of art for Hitler’s
future museum, the Germans also needed to fund the war efforts. In 1939, a massive auction took
place with 126 items from Germany’s leading public museums, but all the profits were kept by
the German Government.?!

Matters only got worse in 1940, when Hitler signed a decree allowing the seizure of any
“degenerate” works of art, which would be those owned by Jews. The Einsatzstab Reichsleiter
Rosenburg (ERR) was formed, headed by Alfred Rosenburg, which would work with the French
government to confiscate all Jewish property in the German-occupied regions of France.?
During World War II, Nazis stole more than 60,000 pieces in total of Jewish-owned cultural
valuables from French collections.?® The items confiscated by the ERR began to be collected at
the Jeu de Paume.**

The items collected at Je de Paume were subject to varying fates. First, high-ranking German
officials were allowed to “shop” there. Many paintings from these seizures were selected by

Adolf Hitler for his museum in Linz and many more were selected by Hermann Goering for his

private collection in Carinhill.>> Additionally, artwork was sold from the Jeu de Paume or

20 Kenneth D. Alford, Hermann Géring and the Nazi Art Collection: The Looting of Europe's Art
Treasures and Their Dispersal after World War I1. (Jefferson: McFarland & Company, Incorporated
Publishers, 2012), 40.

2! Lynn H. Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: the Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 3.

22 Kenneth D Alford, Hermann Géring and the Nazi Art Collection: The Looting of Europe's Art
Treasures and Their Dispersal after World War I1. (Jefferson: McFarland & Company, Incorporated
Publishers, 2012), 48.

2 Tom Bazley, Crimes of the Art World. (California: Praeger, 2010), 84.

* Lynn H Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: the Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 126.

» Kenneth D Alford, Hermann Goring and the Nazi Art Collection: The Looting of Europe's Art
Treasures and Their Dispersal after World War 11. (Jefferson: McFarland & Company, Incorporated
Publishers, 2012), 48.
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exchanged for other artwork with “greater interests to Germany”. Lastly, over 500 “degenerate”
objects at Jeu de Paume were destroyed.?

One of the Jewish families majorly impacted by the German art looting was the Rothschilds.
The Rothschilds are a prominent banking family, who had significant influence throughout
Europe in the 19™ and 20" centuries. The Rothschild banking business started in Frankfort in the
1760s and expanded to London, Paris, Vienna, and Naples.?’ However, during the war, the
family was heavily targeted as they were a gorgeously wealthy Jewish family with known vast
art collections. Additionally, they owned the Rothschild Industries which the German
government wanted.”® As Baron Louis de Rothschild was attempting to flee Austria, he was
arrested and held for ransom from March 1938 to May 1939. The ransom was believed to be the
highest paid ransom in history to date, totaling 21 million dollars.>* This would convert to over
450 million today. In Austria alone, over 3,500 pieces of the Rothschild collection had been
confiscated.*

The Rothschilds that lived in France had fled the country prior to the German occupation,
leaving their large art collection behind. In order to protect some pieces from confiscation, the
Louvre sheltered a fraction of the Rothschild items, though the rest remained scattered across

France®'. Unfortunately, in 1941, the ERR was able to remove Jewish collections from the

2% Database of Art Objects at the Jeu de Paume, Joint Project of Conference on Jewish Material Claims
Against Germany and United States Holocaust Memorial Muesem, 2020.
https://www.errproject.org/jeudepaume/

27 Jean Bouvier. "Rothschild family." Encyclopedia Britannica, 2018.
https://www.britannica.com/topic/Rothschild-family.

8 Lynn H Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: The Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 41.

2% “Baron Louis de Rothschild Dies; Freed by Nazis for $21. Million: Former Vienna Banker Held
Prisoner in *38- 39 During Ransom Negotiations.” New York Times, January 15, 1955.

30 “Rothschild Art Collection Seized by The Nazis on View in Boston,” Artlyst online, March 12, 2015,
https://artlyst.com/news/rothschild-art-collection-seized-by-the-nazis-on-view-in-boston/.

3! Lynn H Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: The Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 92.
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French national repositories, including the Louve, and everything was shipped to the Jeu de
Paume.*? The ERR seized anything of value from the Rothschild palace in Paris*, then searched
the Rothschild country houses that were in the German-occupied areas of France. The ERR even
managed to bring twenty-two chests filled with jewelry from a Rothschild bank vault.>* It is
recorded that the total amount of artwork that was stolen by the ERR had been 21,903 items. Of
those items, 5,009 were from the Rothschild collection.®

The Jeu de Paume kept very neat records, after the war some of the items that had been
cataloged were able to be restituted. Unfortunately, some of the ERR-looted artwork never
passed through the storage facilities accessible in the US-occupied zone in Germany to be
cataloged. For example, portions of the collections of Robert, Maurice, and Eugene de
Rothschild were found abandoned on a country road in France’s unoccupied zone, but they were
swiftly sold since many curators from major museums were allowed to choose from the
selection.>® However, with the pressure on countries, especially Germany, to restitute any stolen
artwork, the examination of all museum collections began. In the United States, forty-four states
committed to examining their collections. So, inadvertently, World War II helped to further

develop the importance of research provenance.’’

32 Lynn H Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: The Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 133.

33 Kenneth D Alford, Hermann Géring and the Nazi Art Collection: The Looting of Europe's Art
Treasures and Their Dispersal after World War 1. (Jefferson: McFarland & Company, Incorporated
Publishers, 2012), 51.

3* Lynn H Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: The Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 133.

3% Kenneth D Alford, Hermann Goring and the Nazi Art Collection: The Looting of Europe's Art
Treasures and Their Dispersal after World War 1. (Jefferson: McFarland & Company, Incorporated
Publishers, 2012), 56.

3 Lynn H. Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: The Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 136.

37 Johannes Gramlich, “Reflections on Provenance Research: Values — Politics — Art Markets”. Journal
for Art Market Studies 1, no. 2 (2017): 7.
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With the help of the Restitution Commission, some of the Rothschilds’ collections were able
to be returned. The restitution commission was created after the war, which would receive and
identify works of art and their owners, but leave the responsibility of restitution to the
corresponding government. Letters went out to those whose collections were somewhat intact,
with the Rothschilds being some of the lucky.*® Additionally, works from the Rothschild seizure
in Austria had been located in salt mines.?® In 1947, Baroness Clarice von Rothschild (wife of
Baron Alphonse von Rothschild) was able to travel to the mines to confirm the items of their
collection. However, she was still forced to donate 250 of the best works to the Austrian state in
order to gain permission to export the remaining collection to the United States. It took 52 years,
until Austria passed a restitution law, and the remaining works were able to be obtained by the
family.*® The French Branch of Rothschilds seemed less concerned with restitution. After they
filed an insurance claim on the missing pieces from their collection, it appeared that the need for
restitution had fallen lower on their priority list. A small painting of Madame de Pompadour by
Boucher, which had been stolen, had been found years later, but the Rothschild let the woman
who had stumbled upon the painting keep it due to not wanting to reopen past problems.*!

Due to the importance of a provenance, they are normally publicly available on the
museum’s websites within the object’s entry. However, the provenance of Blind Man'’s Buff is
curiously not available on the Toledo Museum of Art website, though some of their other

artworks are. Upon inquiry, the following provenance was provided by the Toledo Museum:

3% Lynn H. Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: The Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 414.

3% “Rothschild Art Collection Seized by The Nazis on View in Boston,” Artlyst online, March 12, 2015,
https://artlyst.com/news/rothschild-art-collection-seized-by-the-nazis-on-view-in-boston/.

40 «Rothschild Art Collection Seized by The Nazis on View in Boston,” Artlyst online, March 12, 2015,
https://artlyst.com/news/rothschild-art-collection-seized-by-the-nazis-on-view-in-boston/.

# Lynn H. Nicholas, The Rape of Europa: The Fate of Europe's Treasures in the Third Reich and the
Second World War. (New York: Alfred A. Knopf, Inc., 1994), 414.
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“Baron de Saint-Julien, Paris, France, n.d.-1784?
(Saint-Julien sale, Paris, France, June 21, 1784, lot 75, with pendant, to Lebrun).
MJorel] and others sale, Lebrun, Paris, France, April 19, May 3, 1786, lot 177, for 852
livres together with its pendant, bought by Saubert or Sobert.)
Probably Duclos le Jeune, n.d.-1792
(his sale, Paris, France, April 2, 1792)
(Antoine-Charles Dulac, 1791-n.d.).
Comte de Sinéty, Paris, France.
Baron Nathaniel de Rothschild, Vienna, Austria (inv. no. 253)
Baron Maurice de Rothschild, Chateau de Pregny, Switzerland.
(Consigned to Rosenberg & Stiebel, New York, NY, n.d.-1954)
Purchased by Toledo Museum of Art, 1954-present.”

It is important to mention that when the Blind Man’s Buff was sold in the Saint-Julien sale of
1784, the dimensions for the painting and its pendant painting The See-Saw (Figure 2), were
significantly larger than the dimensions that are reported today. When sold in the 1786 Morel
sale, the dimensions for both paintings were closer to what is reported now, 46 in. by 36 in. It is
argued that the paintings were either reformatted from a tall wall painting to smaller dimensions
that would fit an easel, or possibly that the dimensions were reported incorrectly on the first
sale.*?

This provenance raises concern since it has many holes and missing dates. The biggest
concern is the gaps in dates surrounding Nathaniel and Maurice de Rothschild’s ownerships,
which appears to be around the time of the seizure of the Rothschilds’ collections. Since Baron
Nathaniel de Rothschild passed in 1915, the painting must have been owned by the Rothschild
family at the very latest by 1915. However, its next certain dated appearance is in New York in

1954, where it is sold to the Toledo Museum. So, where was Toledo’s painting during this time

2 The Toledo Museum of Art, The Toledo Museum of Art European Paintings (Pennsylvania:
Pennsylvania State University Press, 1976), 60.
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period and how did it get to New York? With so many artworks from the Rothschilds being
stolen between these dates, this gap in the provenance should be hard to ignore.

In the art world, the process of due diligence means investigating and scrutinizing a piece
of artwork’s past to validate its provenance®. Due diligence is required of art dealers, collectors,
and museums that are involved in an art transaction to provide answers for any problematic past
entries in the provenance. This may be done by combing through databases or contacting the
previous owners. This practice is required to prevent stolen or forgeries from being sold in the art

market.**

If problems are discovered with an artwork’s past, the purchase should not occur.
However, this due diligence process often gets overlooked in order to protect a purchase.

In the United States, common law upholds that if an item is stolen, a legal title cannot be
transferred to a buyer, within a statute of limitations.* However, if it has been discovered that a
purchased art piece has a precarious past, due diligence may be able to protect the purchase in
certain ways. First, if outside of the statutes of limitations, and if due diligence had been done, a
good case could be made by the purchaser for legal ownership.*® Secondly, if within the statute
of limitations, due diligence may affect the amount that has to be paid in compensation. Lastly,

due diligence would be an indicator that the purchase was made with no criminal intent, meaning

the intent of purchase was not for concealment, money laundering, etc.*’

# Lisiane Feiten and Wingert Ody, "Due Diligence in Art Law and Cultural Heritage Law," Brazilian
Journal of International Law 17, no. 3 (2020): 151, HeinOnline.

* Lisiane Feiten and Wingert Ody, "Due Diligence in Art Law and Cultural Heritage Law," Brazilian
Journal of International Law 17, no. 3 (2020): 151, HeinOnline.

* Linda F. Pinkerton, "Due Diligence in Fine Art Transactions," Case Western Reserve Journal of
International Law 22, no. 1 (1990): 1-2, HeinOnline.

46 Sandrine Giroud and Charles Boudry, "Art Lawyers' Due Diligence Obligations: A Difficult
Equilibrium between Law and Ethics," International Journal of Cultural Property 22, no. 2-3 (2015):
404, HeinOnline.

47 Sandrine Giroud and Charles Boudry, "Art Lawyers' Due Diligence Obligations: A Difficult
Equilibrium between Law and Ethics," International Journal of Cultural Property 22, no. 2-3 (2015):
404, HeinOnline.
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Based on the appearance of the provenance, the Toledo Museum of Art has failed to look
closer at this painting’s past. The research involved in this case study is intended to trace the

history of the Blind Man’s Buff, in order to decipher who really has the claim to its ownership.
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The Research:

First, the provenance of the Blind Man’s Buff can easily be compared to that of its
pendant, The See-Saw. The See-Saw is now owned by the Thyssen-Bornemisza National
Museum and is another example of the depiction of child’s play by Fragonard. Unlike the Toledo
Museum, the Thyssen-Bornemisza National Museum does have a provenance, of sorts, publicly
available.*® However, after additional inquiry, a more detailed provenance for The See-Saw was
presented as:

“Baron de Saint-Julien, Paris.
Auctioned by Le Brun, lot 75, Paris, June 21% 1784.
Morel Collection, Paris
Auctioned, lot 177, Paris, May 3™ 1786.
Joubert.
Conde de Sinéty, Paris.
Collection of Baron Nathaniel de Rothschild, Vienna.
Baron Maurice de Rothschild, Chateau de Prégny.
Rosenberg and Stiebel, New York, 1956.
Collection of Thyssen-Bornemisza, Lugano, 1956.
On deposit at the Thyssen-Bornemisza Museum, Madrid, 1992.
Acquired by the Thyssen-Bornemisza Museum, Madrid, 1993.”

When comparing the two, The See-Saw and the Blind Man’s Buff were both originally in the
collection of Baron Saint-Julien. The Toledo Museum has additional entries of ownership for the
Blind Man’s Buff; in the collections of Duclos le Jeune and Antoine-Charles Dulac. The two
provenances realign as they enter the collection of Count Sinéty. The provenance appears to
diverge when the pair enters the US art market. They both pass through the art dealer, Rosenburg

& Stiebel in New York, where in 1954 the Toledo Museum purchased the Blind Man’s Buff

8 Mar Borobia, “The See-Saw by Jean-Honoré Fragonard,” Museo Nacional Thyssen-Bornemisza.
Accessed March 19, 2023. https://www.museothyssen.org/en/collection/artists/fragonard-jean-honore/see-
saw.
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using funds from the Libbey Endowment, and The See-Saw was acquired in 1956 by the Baron
Hans Heinrich Thyssen-Bornemisza.

Rosenburg & Stiebel was an art dealership started by Jakob Rosenbaum in Frankfurt in
1874.% After Rosenbaum’s nephews joined the business, the Rosenburg & Stiebel firm had
galleries in Paris, Amsterdam, London, and New York. In the 1920s and 30s, the firm
participated in selling private collections for the Soviets, in order to help them raise international
currency needed for their rapid industrialization plans. After World War 11, the families
remaining in Europe moved to New York and sold many of their works to the Metropolitan
Museum of Art in New York, the Museum of Fine Arts in Boston, the National Gallery of Art in
Washington, D.C., and many other public institutions.’® The Rosenburg & Stiebel firm has also
been known to work with the Rothschild family since the original Frankfurt gallery, including
selling restituted artwork for Baron Louis von Rothschild.’! The gallery was eventually closed by
grandson Gerald Stiebel and he formed a new entity in Santa Fe, New Mexico, called Pahaana,
1td.>

It would be advantageous to confirm which dates Rosenburg & Stiebel acquired both the
Blind Man’s Buff and the See-Saw and from whom. The date that Rosenburg & Stiebel acquired
the Blind Man’s Buffis not recorded on the provenance given by the Toledo Museum. However,

the provenance provided by the Thyssen-Bornemisza Museum for The See-Saw notates that

4 “Frick Collection Acquires Rosenberg & Stiebel Archive: Historic Gift Deeply Enriches the Resources
of the Frick Art Reference Library,” Frick Collection, January 24, 2022,
https://www.frick.org/press/frick collection acquires _rosenberg_stiebel archive

%0 «“Frick Collection Acquires Rosenberg & Stiebel Archive: Historic Gift Deeply Enriches the Resources
of the Frick Art Reference Library,” Frick Collection, January 24, 2022,
https://www.frick.org/press/frick collection acquires rosenberg stiebel archive

3! “Frick Collection Acquires Rosenberg & Stiebel Archive: Historic Gift Deeply Enriches the Resources
of the Frick Art Reference Library,” Frick Collection, January 24, 2022,
https://www.frick.org/press/frick collection acquires rosenberg_stiebel archive

52 Gerald Stiebel, “History,” Gerald G. Stiebel, accessed March 17, 2023, https://www.stiebel.com/history
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Rosenburg & Stiebel acquired the painting in 1956. This means that there was a two-year gap
after the sale of its pendant in 1954. If the 1956 date for the See-Saw is accurate, then the two
pendants would have had to be separated before they reached Rosenburg & Stiebel. This could
be explained by an odd choice by Maurice de Rothschild to split up the painting and its pendant
by only selling one, or the paintings had been taken from Maurice de Rothschild, as so many
others had, and gotten split up and sold.

Researching records for Toledo’s Blind Man’s Buff proved to have one main difficulty.
Fragonard had painted five different versions, all with the same name. There is the Blind Man’s
Buff at the Tinkman’s art gallery (Putnam Foundation)?, the Blind Man’s Buff (also known as
Playing After the Picnic in the Park) at the Louvre>, the Blind Man’s Buff'in a private collection
in Switzerland®, the Blind Man’s Buff at the National Museum Gallery of Art>®, and finally the
Blind Man’s Buff at the Toledo Museum. An example of how this causes confusion would be a
1941 newspaper article from the New York Times, which reports about an art sale with the lead
title of “Fragonard Paining sold for $12,500”. In the description, along with listing the other
objects that had sold, the article describes that the Jean-Honoré Fragonard’s Blind Man’s Buff
had been sold for $12,500 at the Parke-Bernet Galleries auction sale. The painting was sold from
the Mrs. Henry Walters collection and was purchased by an unnamed New York dealer.®’
However, none of the five Fragonard paintings’ provenance ever report being in a Mrs. Henry

Walters collection, nor being sold in New York in 1941.

>3 George Wildenstein, The Paintings of Fragonard (Cambridge: Hunt, Barnard & Co, Ltd, 1960), 297.
>* George Wildenstein, The Paintings of Fragonard (Cambridge: Hunt, Barnard & Co, Ltd, 1960), 296
5% Jean Pierre Cuzin, Jean-Honoré Fragonard: Life and Work: Complete Catalogue of the Oil Paintings.
(New York: Abrams, 1988), 323.

%% George Wildenstein, The Paintings of Fragonard (Cambridge: Hunt, Barnard & Co, Ltd, 1960), 297
37 “Fragonard Painting Is Sold For $12,500: Two Hubert Robert Works in The Walter Collection Net
$9,000.” New York Times, May 1, 1941.
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Since none of Fragonard’s versions of the Blind Man’s Buff had mentioned this sale in their
provenances, it could definitely be the Toledo Museum’s version. Since the date that Rosenburg
& Stiebel acquired the Blind Man’s Buff is not recorded on the provenance given, it is possible
that Rosenburg & Stiebel was the unnamed New York dealer who purchased this painting in
1941. Additionally, if the split of the pendant paintings occurring before reaching in Rosenburg
& Stiebel dealership, this would explain why the article had not mentioned 7he See Saw pendant.
The two paintings had been sold separately.

In case Toledo’s painting had truly been sold directly from Maurice de Rothschild to
Rosenburg & Stiebel, I attempted to find any other piece of artwork, with a better provenance,
that had been previously owned by Maurice and passed through the Rosenburg & Stiebel
dealership. Almost all the pieces that I found showed a provenance very similar to the Blind
Man’s Buff; no dates of Rosenburg & Stiebel purchase and no absolute connection between the
two (even saying that Rosenburg & Stiebel “probably” got it from Maurice de Rothschild).
However, one painting that I found, 7he Visit by Gerard ter Borch in the Emil Burhle collection,
showed an excellent provenance with a solid connection. The painting was owned by Maurice de
Rothschild but confiscated and then transferred to Linz, destined for Hitler’s Museum. It was
then recovered and returned to Paris to be restituted to Maurice de Rothschild. Maurice then sold
the painting to Rosenburg & Stiebel, though still no date was provided.*®

In order to decern which of the possibilities happened to the Toledo’s painting, I inquired of
any form of documentation that might be left from the Rosenburg & Stiebel purchases of the
Blind Man’s Buff from Gerald Stiebel, the remaining grandson of the Rosenburg & Stiebel

company. I was informed that the archives from the years in question had been donated to the

3% “The Visit by Gerard ter Borch,” Emil Biihrle Collection, accessed March 19, 2023.
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Frick Collection Archives. The Frick Collection is a museum and a research center in New York.
Their artwork collection holds many old master paintings and European sculptures, and the Frick
Art Reference Library is considered to be one of the top art history research centers.>

The Frick Collection was kind enough to provide me with the correspondence about the
purchases of both the Blind Man’s Buff and the See-Saw. All of these documents have been
included (figure 3-figure 24). This may be the first time that these documents have been seen,
since the correspondence from the Director of the Toledo Museum of Art, Blake-More Godwin,
asked for the purchase to be kept “strictly confidential” in Figure 4. Maurice de Rothschild had
consigned the painting to the Rosenburg & Stiebel company, so all of the communications for
the purchase of the paintings were done between the director of Toledo Museum of Art, Blake-
More Godwin, and Rosenburg & Stiebel, more specifically Eric Stiebel and Saemy Rosenburg.
There are three things to note about the documents. First, there is a least one missing letter and a
few telephone calls, which causes a gap in the timeline between letters. Secondly, the Rosenburg
& Stiebel responses swap back and forth between Eric Stiebel and Saemy Rosenburg, which
causes a slight miscommunication. Lastly, when Rosenburg & Stiebel referred to the Blind
Man’s Buff pendant painting, The See-Saw, they sometimes mistakenly refer to it as The Swing.

At the beginning of discussions of the painting’s purchase, it appears that the Toledo
Museum of Art wished to purchase both Fragonard paintings, the Blind Man’s Buff and The See-
Saw. They had also agreed upon a price of $200,000 for the pair (Figure 4). In Figure 5, we can
see that Maurice de Rothschild has decided to increase the price to $250,000 for the pair. In the

process, Eric Siebel states that Maurice is not in a hurry to sell and is “moody”.

9 “About: The Collection,” Frick Collection, accessed March 19, 2023. https://www.frick.org/about.
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The paintings were sent to Toledo Museum to be inspected in person, and Rosenburg &
Stiebel once again informed them the price for the pair had increased to $275,000 in order for
Maurice de Rothschild to make a total profit of the $250,000 excluding commission (Figure 5).
Being unauthorized to spend this amount of money at the time, the Toledo Museum of Art
switched directions and requested to purchase only purchase one painting, the Blind Man’s Buff
for $135,000, with the option of purchasing The See-Saw within the year (Figure 11). The
authorization for this arrangement (known as a Written Option) from Maurice de Rothschild is
seen in Figure 14, stating that the Toledo Museum of Art had until December 31% of 1954 to
purchase The See-Saw. It appears that after the Blind Man’s Buff purchase, either in a missing
letter or a telephone conversation, the Toledo Museum decided that they wanted to have The See-
Saw instead of the Blind Man’s Buff. The conversations changed from having a future purchase
of The See-Saw to wanting Rosenburg & Stiebel to find another buyer for the Blind Man’s Buff
and the money that the Toledo Museum had already paid for their original purchase would be
used for The See-Saw (Figure 18).

In the end, the Toledo Museum needed to have one of the paintings for a 17" and 18%
century gallery that was soon to open, seen in Figure 21. With Rosenburg & Stiebel unable to
find another buyer for the Blind Man’s Buff, the Toledo Museum of Art received the Blind Man’s
Buffinstead of The See-Saw (figure 22). Five months later, the See-saw was purchased by Baron
Thyssen-Bornemisza for $165,000. In Figure 24, we can see correspondence from Rosenburg &
Stiebel asking for Maurice de Rothschild’s ownership to be kept out of the Baron Thyssen-
Bornemisza catalog.

With this new information, it would not be possible for the Toledo Museum’s version of the

Blind Man’s Buff to be the Fragonard painting mentioned in the New York Times Article.
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However, that does not dispose of the concern about this sale not being recorded in any of the
Blind Man’s Buff versions’ provenance. Additionally, from the documents provided, I believe
that there are two reasons that many of the provenances of Maurice de Rothschild’s collection
have missing dates surrounding the Rosenburg & Stiebel connection. First, the artwork was
probably always consigned through the company, so none of the pieces were directly owned by
Rosenburg & Stiebel. In that case, the dates that Rosenburg & Stiebel actually had the artworks
could be muddled. Second, it appears that Maurice de Rothschild did not want it to be advertised
that he was selling his collection at the time. In Figure 24, we see that Rosenburg & Stiebel asks
that Maurice’s ownership of the painting be left out of any catalog entry for The See-Saw.
Though the painting was in Maurice de Rothschild’s hands directly before entering the U.S.
art market, that does not mean that the painting was never stolen from him and then returned,
like the previously mentioned 7he Visit by Gerard ter Borch. Concurrent with the research above,
I began investigating if there was any physical evidence that would indicate the Blind Man’s Buff
had been documented as stolen from the Rothschilds. With the Jeu de Paume being well
inventoried, there is a publicly available database that includes information on pieces that had
been deposited at the Jeu de Paume or the Louvre from late 1940 to mid-1944.° In the Jeu de
Paume database, there are almost 7,000 artworks inventoried to the Rothschild collections. For
Maurice de Rothschild, there are 1,344 items, 16 of which were paintings done by Fragonard.!

Although Toledo’s Blind Man’s Buff is not mentioned in the Jeu de Paume records, the result of

8 Database of Art Objects at the Jeu de Paume, Joint Project of Conference on Jewish Material Claims
Against Germany and United States Holocaust Memorial Muesem, 2020.
https://www.errproject.org/jeudepaume/

1 Database of Art Objects at the Jeu de Paume, Joint Project of Conference on Jewish Material Claims
Against Germany and United States Holocaust Memorial Muesem, 2020.
https://www.errproject.org/jeudepaume/
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this search proves that many paintings, including Fragonard paintings, of Maurice de
Rothschild’s collection did pass through the ERR.

An additional database called the Jewish Digital Cultural Recovery Project, is currently in the
progress of formation, which will include more objects that were taken by French or German
agencies, not just items taken by the ERR. The project’s goal is to have international cooperation
to create a central platform that exhibits the worldwide dispersion of Jewish looted cultural
objects and related archives.®? The pilot project for this was completed in July 2021, but
unfortunately at this moment, the database is not complete.®® This will be an important source for
provenance research in the future, as it will provide a central location with new information
about what has been stolen since so many pieces have fallen through the cracks.

This led me to the Rothchild Archives. The Rothschild family has their own archives
containing documentation of the Rothschild businesses and families, including some limited
information about their art collections. It is notated by the archive that many of the Rothschild
collections were dispersed after the death of the collector by being passed down to family, given
to museums or galleries, or were dispersed after World War II if taken from the Rothschild
residence.® The archives do accommodate provenance researchers. While the archives list that
they do not hold complete records of most collections, since some Rothschilds have requested
that personal records were to be destroyed after their death, the records they have are available to
view in person upon request. Of the most interest to this project, the Rothschild Archive has

information about the seizure and return of Rothschild collections during and after World War

62 Camille Pissarro, “About Us”, Jewish Digital Cultural Recovery Project, accessed April 6™, 2023.
https://jderp.org

63 «“The Pilot Project,” Jewish Digital Cultural Recovery Project, July 2021, https://pilot-demo.jdcrp.org.
6 «provenance Research,” The Rothschild Archives, accessed March 17, 2023,
https://www.rothschildarchive.org/collections/provenance_research/
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II, including the collection of Maurice de Rothschild. Unfortunately, I was unable to access the
Rothschild archive, as it is only accessible in person in London.%’

The last database that I searched was the National Archives catalog of the United States. The
National Archives hold a collection of documents that are deemed important for legal or
historical reasons. Two documents were found referencing a Fragonard’s Blind Man’s Buff,
which can be seen in Figure 25 and Figure 26. The document in Figure 25 was found in the
“Linzer Kunstmuscum List (Only Partly), File No. R&R 35” file, meaning that the works listed
were selected for Hitler’s Art Museum in Linz.°® The document is mainly in German, but the
Fragonard name is still recognizable. Underneath the French section, there are two paintings by
Fragonard, Das Blindekuhspiel (the Blind Man’s Game) and Die Schaukol (The Swing).
Considering that the Blind Man’s Buff version that is at the National Art Gallery is a pendant to
The Swing, 1 believe that this document is referring to these two paintings, not the Toledo
Museum of Art’s painting. This is yet another example of the confusion caused by having
multiple paintings titled the same. However, in the file “Paintings Restituded (F), File No. R&R
597, a page mentions Fragonard Blind Man’s Buff and The See-Saw, Figure 28.5” Fragonard only
painted one painting titled “The See-Saw "~ and it is the pendant to the Toledo Museum’s version

of the Blind Man’s Buff, meaning that it is very likely that these are the two that they are

85 «“Provenance Research,” The Rothschild Archives, accessed March 17, 2023,
https://www.rothschildarchive.org/collections/provenance _research/

% Linzer Kunstmuscum List (Only Partly), File No. R&R 35; General Administrative Records, 1946-
1950; Records of the Reparations and Restitutions Branch of the U.S. Allied Commission For Austria
(USACA) Section, 1945-1950. (National Archives Microfilm Publication M1926, roll 147); Records of
U.S. Occupation Headquarters, World War II, Record group 260; National Archives at College Park,
College Park, MD.

%7 Paintings Restituded (F), File No. R&R 59; General Administrative Records, 1946-1950; Records of
the Reparations and Restitutions Branch of the U.S. Allied Commission For Austria (USACA) Section,
1945-1950. (National Archives Microfilm Publication M 1926, roll 153); Records of U.S. Occupation
Headquarters, World War II, Record group 260; National Archives at College Park, College Park, MD.
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referring to. This document is a record that shows that the Blind Man’s Buff had been reported
stolen. Next to The See-Saw painting title, there is a Rothschild name under the claim number
column, and the word “ditto” next to the Blind Man’s Buff, meaning that the Rothschilds were
the ones to make the claim that the paintings had been stolen. Additionally, in the restituted
column, there is no receipt number, meaning that the painting was not returned at the time that
this document was last updated. The file is a part of the “General Administrative records” series
from 1946-1950, which would indicate that the last update to the file fell in some time between
those two dates.
Conclusion

This unfinished and ignored provenance makes the impression that there might be a
cover-up of a bad transaction, especially since the dates missing surround such a tumultuous time
in history for art. However, this is not the case. This correspondence I received from the Frick
Collection is proof that the Toledo Museum’s purchase was of a legal title and that they would
be the legal owner of the painting. It is quite likely, that the Toledo Museum just does not know
the information, or else more dates would have been included in the provenance. The issue is that
it a requirement for them to know. The information that I have gathered should have been found
when purchasing the painting or found during provenance research of their current collections.

An excuse may be that there is confusion between the five different versions of the Blind
Man’s Buff, since Fragonard named all five versions the same, and that this confusion has
prevented any forward movement on provenance research for these paintings. However, I as an
undergraduate student was able to make great strides in filling in missing pieces and I do not
have the immense artwork connections that the Toledo Museum would have. The information

that I uncovered is critical for the connection between entries in the provenance and adds dates to
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the ownership of Maurice de Rothchild and Rosenburg & Stiebel. The Toledo Museum needs to
do more.

I would urge the Toledo Museum of Art to do three things. First, make the provenance of
the Blind Man’s Buff publicly available on their website. Second, update the dates to the
ownership of Maurice de Rothchild and Rosenburg & Stiebel considering the evidence that I
have found in my research. Third, I would urge them to continue research to determine if the
painting had been stolen and then repatriated to Maurice de Rothchild, and if so, notate that on
the provenance as well.

This is not the only painting whose suspicious provenance is being ignored. What about
this New York Times article, which reported the sale of a Blind Man’s Buff by Fragonard? None
of the provenances of the other four Blind Man’s Buff paintings have either the Henry Walter
collection or the Perke-Bernet auction sale as an entry. That means that one of them is still
incorrect. If there are still questions about ownership in artwork, then provenance research is not
over. The Toledo Museum’s painting is just one of many artworks whose provenance is not fully
explored. Institutions are not properly doing their due diligence to investigate the provenances of

their purchases and their collections.
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Figure 1: Blind Man’s Buff, Jean-Honoré¢ Fragonard, 1750-1752, oil on canvas, Toledo Museum
of Art, Ohio.
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Figure 2: The See Saw, Jean-Honor¢ Fragonard, 1750-1752, oil on canvas, Museo Nacional
Thyssen-Bornemisza, Madrid.
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November 9, 1953

Mr. Blake-More Godwin, Director
The Toledo Museum of Art
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Godwini

With the help of my brother in Puris, I received
todey photographs of the two importent paintings by
Fragonard, which I mentioned to you confidentially on
your last visit to New York. If you should be interested,
I think we could get them on consignment to New York, so
that you could inspect the originals.

I wish to say again that they ure of the greatest
importance and that they are listed in the old catalogue
of the Baron Nathaniel de Rothsechild Collection, Vienns.
Formerly, they were in the Collection of Buron de St.Julien
and sre listed in the catalogue of the sale of this Collec-
tion 1784, when they were bought by Count Sinety, from whom
Beron Sathaniel de Rothschild acquired them., The paintings
are engraved by Besuvarlet, 17€0.

with kindest regards,

Very sincerely yours,

Eric Stiebel
encl

Figure 3: November 1953 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Blake-
More Godwin, Toledo Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the
purchase of the Blind Man’s Buff.
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THE TOLEDO MUSEUM OF ART
FOUNDED BY EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY

BLAKE-MORE GODVIN, DIRECTOR OTTO WITTMANN, JR.ASSOC. DIRECTOR
MONROE STREET AT SCOTTWOOD AVENUE

TOLEDO 2,0HIO gepruary 4, 1954

Mr. Saemy Rosenberg
Rosenberg & Stiebel Inc.
32 East 57th Street
New York 22 N. Y.

Dear Mr. Rosenberg:

This is to advise you that we are purchasing
the Boucher,Mill at Quinquengrogne, and the Lancret,
The Dance in the Park.

Will you please give us an invoice for them
separately, with the usual full amount of information,
particularly with any dates of acquisition that you may
have or that you may be able to get. We like to have
the years of transfer from one owner to another whenever
we can get it. Will you make each of the bills in
triplicate, with the amount stated on one copy only.
Will you also let us know when you would like to have
payment.

When you get the two Fragonards over, we will
give them very serious consideration. I could assure you
that, assuming they are of the quality which the photographs
indicate and in as good condition as the Lancret and Boucher,
we would purchase them for $200,000 for the pair. When we
see the originals, we might think even more highly of them.
That I cannot say until we do see them, but in any event,
get them over as soon as you can so that we can come to a
decision before I go abroad.

Yours sincerely,

Director

BMG :HBM

P.S. As it will be some consideradgé time before we announce
the acquisition of these pictures, will you be good
enough to keep their purchase strictly confidential.

We do not want the purchase to be known even in the
trade for a while.

|

\

\
Figure 4: February 1954 correspondence from Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum Director, to
Rosenburg & Stiebel. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind

Man’s Buff.
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February 8, 1954

Mr. Bluke-More Godwin, Director
The Toledo Museum of irt

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Codwing

Meny thenks for your two letters of February 4th. You can imagine
what satisfaction it gives me that the two famous Rothschild
paintings have found a place in your museum.

Both paintings are not only fine specimens of two of the cutstanding
French painters of the Bighteenth Century, but also quite unusual
in their important dimensions.

In accordance with your wish, I um enclosing separate invoices in
triplicate with the amount stated on one copy only. I would be
grateful if you could let us bave payment &t your earliest convenience
as I have to remit the money to the owner as eoon as possible.

0f course, I shall comply with your wish to keep the purchsse of the
two paintings strictly confidential.

Immediately on receipt of ycur letter I asked the owner of thé two-
Pragonurds to ship the paintings to New York. As soon as I have his
reply, I shall inform you ebout it. Poth psintings are of the quality
which the photographs indicate &nd in excellent condi tion.

On your last visit, you mentioned that you might consider the purchase
of the Lenain if we could reduce the price. In view of the iaci that
you have made importent acquisitions from us recently und as I am
convinced that the high quality of this rare picture would meke it
worthy of your cellections, I «a prepared to make a special effort in
reducing the price from $45,000 to $86,000. I will reserve the painting
for you until you let me know your decislon.

I want to take this opportuaity to thank you for the confidence shown to
us. You may rest assured that we appreciate it and that we shall always
do our best to justify it.

With kindest regards, Very sincerely yours,

Seemy Rosenberg
st/1f

Figure 5: February 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Saemy Rosenburg) to
Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum Director Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the
purchase of the Blind Man’s Buff.
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THE TOLEDO MUSEUM OF ART
FOUNDED BY EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY

BLAKE-MORE GODVIN, DIRECTOR  OTTO WITTMANN.JR.ASSOC. DIRECTOR
MONROE STREET AT SCOTTVOOD AVENUE

TOLEDO 2, OHIO February 11, 1954

Mr. Saemy Rosenberg
Rosenberg and Stiebel Inc.
32 East 57th Street
New York 22 N. Y.

Dear Mr. Rosenberg:

Thank you for your letter of February 8. I will
put the invoices in process for payment and as soon as the
necessary formalities (which include the disposal of
certain investments) can be completed, our check will
come along.

We must await the conclusion of any negotiations
which we might enter into on the Fragonards before we
make a decision on the LeNain for you will realize that
five pictures involve quite a substantial financial
operation for us.

We do deeply appreciate the concession which you
have offered and I hope you can hold the picture until we have
made a decision on the Fragonards.

With all good wishes and many thanks, I am

Yours sincerely,

BMG : HBM

Figure 6: February 1954 correspondence from Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum Director, to
Rosenburg & Stiebel. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind
Man’s Buff.
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ir. Biske-gore Gofvin, Direester

~

i February 17, 1954
¥e are still bepeful that we shell be sltis 0 gwt She palntings

S g S T T -
,!“ of OMer o schieve this result.
m Street at Scottwocd Avemue

edo" 2, ‘Ohlo "

pear ur. Godwing Very sincarely yours,

In the absence of Mr. Rosenberg who bas left on & short trip, I
acknowledge, with thanks, your two letters of Februasry lith.

Bric Efdedal
As to the Lancret, I presume that Wildensteln knew of the existence
of one or seversl fine paintings by this Master at Castle Waddesdon
but could nmot get photograpbs due to the "Rothschild mentality.”
mg, the Lencret which you azcquired was not at the Castle anymore
in 1924, since the former owner of the Weddesdon Collections, Baron
Ferdinand, left it to his brother, Baron jplbert in Vienna upon his
death. T do not think that Wildensteim was awsre of this chenge of
omership.

I cen very well understend that you wish t0 wait for the ouicome of
the Fragonard negotiations before deciding on the scquisition of the
fine Le Nain. We heve put the picture aside for you for the time being.

With regard to the Pragonards, I &s sorry to say thet the first resction
of the owner was not too favorable. He now essks & price of $250,000
net for him wheress he originally sgreed to pey us our comsission if
we sell the paintings at &u;rm.

45 we have had the opportunity to explain to you, this sttitude is mot
new to us, the omer being in 2o need of zoney and rather moody.

We now let him know that in sccordance with his former instructions, we
hdqwtdm.muottm.owhddh(mmrorm
mmmmtnommmmmoo. ¥e are still expecting
his reaction to this information.

Auyouknu,qho'huhuﬂ.uhnﬂlnuofﬂnymndhs
aonducted negoddations with Baron Maurice personsily. At present, sy
brother is in New york for & short visit tut will return to Paris by the
end of this sonth. If we bave not heard from Baron Meurice by that
time, my brother will contact him personally end will do his utmost to
get a more favorable decision fros him.

Nr. Blake-More Godwin, Director -8

ve are still hopeful that we shall be able o get the paintings
for you at the price quoted but we may have to ask you to allow
us & little more time in order to achieve this result.

. 3oatinood 2Avernne
Kindest regards.
adyin Very sincerely yours,
&5 01 sho Bos Lef% on & short trip, I
ouledye ivh thowbe, yoer two Lettere of Pelouery Ll%h.
Eric Stiebel
ey that Wildansielis oo e exd slenica

lags by Wie Seate tie ¥ udiopdon

Figure 7: February 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind Man'’s
Buff.



April 14, 1954

Mr. Blake-More Godwin, Director
The Toledo Museum of Art

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Godwin:

It gives me pleasure to inform you that the frames for the
Fragonards are now ready and I have immediately given
instructions to Hahn Bros. Fireproof Varehouses, Inc., to
ship the pictures to you by air. As soon as I know the
flight number, I will send you a telegram.

As you know, these two paintings come from Beron Maurice de
Rothschild and were formerly in the Collection of Baron Nathaniel
de Rothschild, Viemna. In the catalogue of this Collectiom, they
are listed under Nos. 253 and 254. According to the catalogue,
these pictures were painted for Baron de St. Julienm.

At the sale of this Collection in 1784, they were acquired by
the family of Count Sinety, fros whom Baron Nsthaniel de Rothschild

bought them,.
The peintings are engraved by Besuvarlet in 1760.

I am enclosing a photostatic copy of the relevant page in the
Julien catalogue.

The price for the pair is $275,000.00, which includes & modest
commission for ns. I am sorry that we were not sble to bring the
price down. On the other hand, when you see the paintings, I hope
you will be as much impressed as I was by the importance, quality,
and charm of these pictures.

‘Before shipping them, I showed the paintings to Mr. Subr, who confimmed

that both are in an ent state of preservation.

With kindest regards,
Very sincerely yours,

SRsLH Saemy Rouin
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Figure 8: April 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase price of the Blind

Man’s Buff.



THE TOLEDO MUSEUM OF ART
FOUNDED BY EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY

BLAKE-MORE GODWIN,DIRECTOR  OTTO WITTMANN,JR.ASSOC. DIRECTOR
MONROE STREET AT SCOTTWOOD AVENUE

TOLEDO 2, OHIO
April 17, 1954

Mr, Saemy Rosenberg
Rosenberg and Stiebel Inc.
32 East 57th Street
New York 22 N. Y.

Dear Mr, Rosenberg:

The pictures were held over Thursday night in
Cleveland and sent on here Friday evening and delivered
to the Museum this morning. Meanwhile I have received
your letter of April 14, and I too am sorry that you
cannot bring down the price. We were authorized to
acquire one or both, should they meet our approval, at
a price of not over $125,000.00 for one, or, should we
so decide, $250,000,00 for the pair.

Now, if the price is $275,000.00, we must again
consult with our associates and convince them of the

higher value. Moreover, the additional $25,000.00
must be provided by diverting that sum from its allocation
to some other project. This will cause us considerable

embarrassment and trouble and may not be successiully
accomplished. Do you think there is any chance that the
Baron Rothschild would stand by his original price?

With all good wishes, I am

Yours sincerely,

BMG :HBM / Director
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Figure 9: April 1954 correspondence from Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum Director, to
Rosenburg & Stiebel. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase price of the Blind

Man’s Buff.
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April 19, 1954

Mr. Blake-More Godwin, Director
The Toledo Museum of Art

Monroe Street at Scottwood iAvenue
Tolede 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Godwin:
Many thanks for your letter of April 17th.

I can very well understand your difficulties created by the
additional us.m.m.

You know how gladly I would help you get the price down; but
from former experienmces with this particular Collector, we know
that once he has decided on & firm price, it is dangerocus to ask
for a reduction. It is not only improbable that he wil reduce
the price, but there is always the danger that he might increase
his price or withdraw the object altogether,

Still, I feel it my duty to leave no stone unturned and therefore

I have sent & detailed cable to my partner, Mr. Hans Stiebel in Paris
today, to take this matter up with the Baron. As Mr. Stiebel is in
constant contact with the Baron, he might have a chance to find out
in & mon-commital way, whether any reduction is possible. I asked
Mr. Stiebel for & cable reply and I will let you know the outcome of
his conversation with the Baron immediately.

Meanwhile, I am with kindest regards,

Very sincerely yours,

SR:LH Saemy Hosenberg
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Figure 10: April 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase price of the Blind

Man’s Buff.
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May 10, 1954

Major Otto Wittmenn

The Toledo Museum of Art

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Major Wittmann;
Many thanks for your letter of May 6th.

Meanwhile, I had a cable from Mr. Hens Stiocbel in Paris
that he had a long telephone conversation with Mr. Godwin snd
that Mr. Godwin agreed to buying one of the two Pragonards for
$137,500. Mr. Stiebel has an appointment with the owner st
the end of this week and will try his best to get the Baron's
consent. Mr. Stiebel promised me a cable as soon us he has
the Baron's decision, end of course I will infomm you
immediately. In the meantime, I shall be grateful if you
keep both paintings in Toledo for the time being pending the
outcome of our negotiations.

A client of mine saw the picture by Valdes Lesl in the
street when Hahn Bros. were bringing it to our galleries. He
came up together with the picture in order to inspect it, and
I am in negotiations with him for its sale.

X am sorrycthat I did not know of your interest before.
Under the circumstances, I must now wait whether my client
can find & place for this comparatively lsrge peinting, which
might take e lew weaks. If he should not buy the picture, I
shall let you know, and I would not offer it to anybody before
you have the chance to consider it.

With kindest regerds,

Very sincerely yours,

Seeny Rosenberg

sr/1f

Figure 11: May 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Saemy Rosenburgx) to the
Toledo Museum, Major Otto Wittman. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase

of the Blind Man’s Buff.
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June 10, 1954

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Godwin:
Pursusnt to our today's telephone conversation, I want

to
repeat the contente of my brother's letter which I mentioned to
you referring to the Fragonard paintings.

os/Lf

\

Figure 12: June 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind Man'’s
Buff.
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THE TOLEDO MUSEUM OF ART
FOUNDED BY EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY

BLAKE-MORE GODWIN, DIRECTOR  OTTO WITTMANN.JR.ASSOC. DIRECTOR

MONROE STREET AT SCOTTVWOOD AVENUE

TOLEDO 2, OHIO

Figure 13: June 1954 correspondence from Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum Director, to
Rosenburg & Stiebel. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind
Man’s Buff.
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( BARON MAURICE DE ROTHSCHILD
CHATEAU DE PREGNY

Pregny, le 5 aollt 1954.

ROSENBERG & STIEBEL INC.
32 East 57th Street,
NEW YORK 22, N.Y.

Messieurs,

Me référant & mes entretiens avec Monsieur Hans

STIEBEL, je vous confirme par la présente mon accord de vendre:

1l (un) Tableau de Fragonard " TA BASCUIE "

tableau sans cadre, largeur cm. 105, hauteur

cm. 120, au prix de :

$ 125.000.-- ( cent vingt cing mille dollars )

absolument net pour moi et ceci & condition que ce tableau
soit vendu avant la fin de 1'année présente et que le pro-
ingt cing
13 31

duit de cette vente, soit : § 125,000.-- ( ce
mille dollars ) net me soit versé le plus/tard ve:

Agréez, Messieurs, mes sal

djistijxuées
4771.¢k¢»21—( Ca Qﬁf\‘ o 752%'7 A

décembre 1954.
(2

Figure 14: Written option from Maurice de Rothschild for the purchase of The See-Saw.



June 16, 1954

Mr. .m.mm.m
The Toledo Museum of Art

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio
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Figure 15: June 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind Man'’s

Buff.
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September 8, 1954

Mr. Blake-More Godwin

The Toledo Museum of Art

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Godwin:

A short while ago, my brother succeeded in
getting a written option from the Baron for the
Fragonard painting, "The 8wing."

Although the time limit mentioned therein is
the end of this year, we feel sure thut this is just
o matter of formality and that the Baron will not
withdraw the painting if unsold, even after that date.

On the basis of the Baron's option, we can offer
you the painting at the same price as "Blind Man's
Buff,” and I am enclosing a new bill for the latter
picture mentioning the option for "The Swing."

Vith kiddest regards, I am

Very sincerely yours,

Eric Stiebel

Encl.

Figure 16: September 1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind Man'’s

Buff.
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Septexber 8, 1954

-

'oledo Museum of Art
Monroe Street
Toledo 2, Ohde

:'I{’)
A _psinting by Jean-Honoré Pregonard (1732-1806)
“Eliad Jon's Buff*
Engraved by Beauwarlet im 1760.

Baron de St. Julien for whom the picture is seid %o
have been painted.

Count Sinety vhose family sequired the peinting
in 1784 at the 5%, Julfien Sale (No, 75 of the cstalogue).

Baron Nethaniel de FRothsohild, Vienma.
(No. 253 of the catalogue of hu collection).

Baron Msurice de Rothschild, Chsteau Pregny. $157,500.00

E
3

that the Toledo Museum of Art has
the option to buy the painting by Jean-Honoré Fragonard,
"The Swing®, (companion plece of the above picture and
coming from the seme collectiong)at the price of
$137,500 until December 31, 1954.

ROSENBERG & STIEBEL, INC.

Figure 17: September 1954 invoice from Rosenburg & Stiebel to Toledo Museum Director.

Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind Man’s Buff and option of
The See-Saw.
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THE TOLEDO MUSEUM OF ART
FOUNDED BY EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY

BLAKE-MORE GODWIN, DIRECTOR  OTTO WITTMANN,JR.ASSOC. DIRECTOR
MONROE STREET AT SCOTTWOOD AVENUE

TOLEDO 2, OHIO September 11, 1954

Mr. Eric Stiebel
Rosenberg and Stiebel
32 East 57th Street
New York 22 N, Y.

Dear Mr. Stiebel:

I have your letter of September 8. My understanding
with your brother , Mr. Hans Stiebel, was that Baron
Rothschild would give an option for a full year from the
time I was dealing (that is last May) on the Fragonard Swing
at the price of $125,000,00, and it was also my understanding
that come this fall, we would send you the Blind Man's Buff
and you would make an effort to dispose of it at such a
figure (which is no concern of ours) that we could exercise
the option on the Swing, and have it instead of Blind Man's
Buff, at the price which we had paid for Blind Man's Buff,
that is, $137,500,00,

In other words, if the Baron accepts a figure which
makes it possible for you to sell Blind Man's Buff at
$125,000.00, we have paid $137,500.00 and get the Swing
instead.

If, regardless of his figure, you can sell Blind Man's
Buff at a greater figure than $125,000.00, the profit is all
yours - it is no concern of ours.

This, I believe, your brother and I understood, and I am
sending along an extra copy of this letter as you may want to
send it to him to check on. I thought when Mr. Rosenberg
cam back, you would want us to send the picture which we have
here down to you. Let me know.

Yours_sincerely,

BMG :HBM Director

Figure 18: September 1954 correspondence from Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum
Director, to Rosenburg & Stiebel. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the

Blind Man’s Buff.
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THE TOLEDO MUSEUM OF ART
FOUNDED BY EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY

BLAKE-MORE GODWIN,DIRECTOR  OTTO WITTMANN,JR_ASSOC. DIRECTOR
MONROE STREET AT SCOTTWOOD AVENUE

TOLEDO 2, OHIO September 21, 1954

Mr. Eric Stiebel
Rosenberg and Stiebel Inc.
32 East 57th Street

New York 22 N. Y.

Dear Mr. Stiebel:

Following my conversation with you last week,
we are sending the Fragonard Blind Man's Buff to you
by prepaid express. It is fully insured under our
policy, while in transit and while with you.

I do hope that things will work out so that we
can let go of this one and have the See-Saw in its place.

I am also sending at the same time the two
paintings by de Troy. Much as we admire them and
interesting as they are as commentaries on the life
of the time and depictions of the furnishings and
decorations of France in the eighteenth century, we
feel that we cannot afford them.

I still have hopes of doing something about
the two terracottas.

With all good wishes, I am

Yours sincerely,

R Ry

Director

BMG :HBM

P.S. We will send all three paintings to Hahn Brothers,
for delivery to you.

N

Figure 19: September 1954 correspondence from Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum
Director, to Rosenburg & Stiebel. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the return of the
Blind Man’s Buff.
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October 4, 1954

Mr. Blake-More Godwin, Director
The Toledo Museum of Art

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Godwins

Many thanks for your letter of September 2lst.
In the meantime I received in perfect order the
Fregonard "Blind Man's Buff® and the two paintings
by de Troy.

We shall do our utmost to find a buyer for the
Fragonard so that we can let you have the "See-Saw" et
in its place.

It gave me great pleasure to have Major
Wittmann's visit the other day and I was only sorry
that I could hardly show him any new acquisitions.
However, I hope that we shall be able to do better
when you come to New York towards the end of the month.

With kindest regards,

Very sincerely yours,

Eric Stiebel

es/1f

Figure 20: October1954 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind Man'’s
Buff.
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THE TOLEDO MUSEUM OF ART
FOUNDED BY EDWARD DRUMMOND LIBBEY

BLAKE-MORE GODWIN, DIRECTOR  OTTO WITTMANN, JR.ASSOC. DIRECTOR
MONROE STREET AT SCOTTWOOD AVENUE

TOLEDO 2, OHIO
August 1, 1955

Mr. Eric Stiebel
Rosenberg & Stiebel, Inc.
32 East 57th Street

New York, N.Y.

Dear Mr. Stiebel:

I assume that Mr. Rosenberg is still in Europe
and that there has been no development which makes it
possible for us to have the See-Saw by Fragonard rather
than the Blind Man's Buff. If that is the case I sug-
gest that the Blind Man's Buff be sent out to us within
a reasonable length of time. You might like to commu-
nicate with Mr. Rosenberg before shipping it in case
there is anything stirring that would make it possible
for us to make the switch.

We are planning to install our 17th and 18th
Century French gallery for opening the first of Novem-
ber and as it is necessary to prepare labels, publicity,
etc., we ought to have the Fragonard which we are to
use here by mid-August.

With all good wishes, I am

Yours sincerely,

" ZJ%M%

Director
BMG:A

Figure 21: August 1955 correspondence from Blake-More Godwin, Toledo Museum Director, to
Rosenburg & Stiebel. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind

Man’s Buff.
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August 17, 1955

Mr. Blake-More Codwin, Director
The Toledo Museum of Art

Monroe Street at Scottwood Avenue
Toledo 2, Ohio

Dear Mr. Godwing

Many thanks for your letter of August lst
which was forwarded to me during my vacation.

I regret that your assumption is correct
that there have been no new developments which
would make it possible for you to have the "See-
Saw" instead of the "Blind Man's Buff." Although
we succeeded in interesting several collectors in
this picture, so far we have, unfortunately, been
unable to conclude a definite sale. I have therefore
given irstructions to ship the "Blind Man's Buff" to
you by ain free of all charges, and trust that it will
arrive safely,

Hoping that you are having a pleasant summer,
and with kindest regards, I am

Very sincerely yours,

Eric Stiebel

es/1f

Figure 22: August 1955 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Eric Stiebel) to Toledo
Museum Director. Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of the Blind Man'’s

Buff.
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Figure 23: April 1956 invoice from Rosenburg & Stiebel to the Baron Thyssen-Bornemisza.
Provided by the Frick Collection regarding the purchase of The See-Saw .
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March 23, 1957

Dr. Giuseppe Groh
Villa Favorita
Lugano Castagnola
Switzerland

Dear Dr. Grohs

Many thanks for your letter of March 20th. In our bill dated
April 3, 1956, we mentioned the provenance as follows:

b onoré -
"The Swing"
Engraved by Besuvarlet in 1760.
es:

Baron de 8t. Julien for whom the picture ie said to
have been painted.

Count Sinety whose family acquired tiae painting in
1784 et the St. Julien Sele (No. 75 of the cetalogue).
Baron Nethaniel de Rothschild, Viemna, (No. 253 of the
catalogue of his collection).

Baron Maurice de Rothschild, Chateau Pregny.

4s you see from it, the picture has been in the family of the
Vienne Rothschilds for many years, and the last owner, Baron Maurice de
Rothschild, hed it only & comparatively short time. I would be grateful
if you would mention in your catalogue only the Vienna provenence and
not Beron Meurice. Ihe Baron is still alive and lives in Switzerland,
and he might resent if people should find out that he sold the picture.

With kindest regards,

Very sincerely yours,

Saemy Rosenberg

sr/1f

Figure 24: March 1957 correspondence from Rosenburg & Stiebel (Saemy Rosenburg) to Dr.
Giuseppe Groh at the Baron Thyssen-Bornemisza villa. Provided by the Frick Collection
regarding the purchase of The See-Saw.
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Boucher, Vior Panncaus mit Amoretten
Nattier, Bildnis einer Dame mit Buch
van Loo, Damenbildnis
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ATTACHUENT 72 —SQUBITETL

Figure 25: Documentation from the National Archives found in the “Linzer Kunstmuscum List
(Only Partly), File No. R&R 35 file. Underneath the French section, there are two paintings by
Fragonard, Das Blindekuhspiel (the Blind Man’s Game) and the Die Schaukol (The Swing).
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The Sea-saw ‘ A. Rothschild
The Blindman's Buff -ditto-
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Girl playing with Doves; -ditto—-
King Selomon on White Horse,

several People kneeling,
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Figure 26: Documentation from the National Archives Catalog ound in the “Painting Restituted
(f), File No. R&R 59 file. First two paintings listed are The See-Saw and the Blind Man’s Buff.
Claim was created by A. Rothschild and no receipt of restitution.
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